# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed

Jun 22 2021 01:45 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

## **DEVOHN MARKS,**

Appellant,

VS.

## THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

# Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Carolyn Ellsworth, District Court Judge

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MARIO D. VALENCIA Nevada Bar No. 6154 40 S. Stephanie St., Ste. 201 Henderson, NV 89012 (702) 384-7494 Attorney for Devohn Marks

#### NRAP 26.1 Disclosure

#### **Jurisdictional Statement**

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction entered in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, following a jury trial. The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). The written Judgment of Conviction and Restitution (Jury Trial) was entered on December 23, 2019. Appellant's Appendix (AA) 154-56. Defendant-appellant, Devohn Marks, filed a timely notice of appeal on January 17, 2020. 9 AA 157-58; NRAP 4(b)(1)(A).

## **Routing Statement**

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it involves convictions for category B felonies. *See* NRAP 17(b)(2)(A).

The original judgment of conviction listed Marks' aggregate total sentence as 192-480 months. 9 AA 156. On March 16, 2020, after receiving a letter from the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC) that the aggregate total sentence in the judgment was incorrect, the district court entered an Amended Judgment of Conviction and Restitution – *nunc pro tunc* (Jury Trial), increasing Marks' aggregate total sentence to 264-660 months; a significant difference from the original judgment. 9 AA 161. A few months later, the district court received another letter from NDOC that the aggregate total sentence was still incorrect. The district court then entered a Second Amended Judgment of Conviction and Restitution (Jury Trial) on June 17, 2020, lowering Marks' aggregate total sentence from 264-660 to 240-612 months, but it was still more than what was in the original judgment. Respondent's Appendix (RA) 6. Marks' attorney did not appeal from the amended or second amended judgments.

#### **Statement of Issues Presented for Review**

- 1. The State's entire case against Marks was the uncorroborated testimony of accomplice, Antwaine Johnson. Is that sufficient to convict Marks?
- 2. There were two robbers. One of them hit two of the patrons in the bar and took their wallets. None of them identified Marks as that robber. The accomplice testified this was never part of the plan, and he didn't see who robbed the individuals. Marks' DNA and fingerprints weren't in the bar. Is this sufficient to convict Marks of battery and robbery against these individuals (*i.e.*, counts 4, 6, 7, and 8?
- 3. Marks had a 2011 conviction for robbery. There were significant differences between that robbery and the one in this case. They were not so similar as "establish[] a signature crime so clear as to establish the identity of the person on trial." The court, nevertheless, allowed it into evidence and failed to instruct the jury of its limited evidentiary use before they heard the prior-bad-act evidence. Did the district court abuse its discretion and was its decision manifestly wrong; thus, violating Marks' constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial?
- 4. Well before trial, Marks repeatedly requested substitution of counsel because there was a complete collapse of the attorney-client relationship. His court-appointed attorney refused to file pretrial motions and meet with him to prepare for trial. The court denied Marks' requests because, as an indigent defendant, Marks had no right to choose his attorney; not for trial. For sentencing, however, the court felt differently. Did the court violate Marks' Sixth Amendment right to counsel by denying his requests for substitution of counsel before trial?
- 5. The district court did not instruct the jury that, in order to convict Marks, the accomplice's testimony had to be corroborated by other evidence connecting him to the crimes. Was the failure to give that instruction "patently prejudicial" here, resulting in a violation of Marks' constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial?

#### **Statement of the Case<sup>2</sup>**

On January 11, 2019, the State filed a Superseding Indictment charging

Marks with Conspiracy to Commit Burglary (Count 1), Burglary while in

Possession of a Deadly Weapon (Count 2), Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Count
3), Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon, Victim 60 years of age or older (Count
4), Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Count 5), Robbery with Use of a

Deadly Weapon (Count 6), Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon, Victim 60 years
of age or older (Count 7), and Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Count 8). 1

AA 57-63. Antwaine Johnson was also charged with Marks. *Ibid*.

On February 12, 2019, the State filed a Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts. 1 AA 64-167. Marks opposed the motion. 1 AA 168-171. The district court held a *Petrocelli* hearing on the matter and then requested supplemental briefing. 1 AA 181-215. The State filed its Supplemental Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts on May 30, 2019. 1 AA 216-223. Marks did not file a supplemental brief. On June 24, 2019, the district court ruled that evidence of Marks' prior-bad-acts (*i.e.*, his 2011 robbery conviction) was admissible to prove

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Statement of the Case and the Statement of Facts are taken (quoted) in large part from the State's answering brief previously filed on December 3, 2020, because there's no dispute as to these portions of the record. Marks has added some procedural history and facts that are important and relevant to this appeal.

identity. 1 AA 224-331. The written order granting the State's Supplemental Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts was not entered, however, until October 17, 2019. RA 1-3.

Before trial, Marks repeatedly informed the district court there was complete collapse of the attorney-client relationship: his court-appointed attorney refused to file pretrial motions and meet with him to prepare for trial. *See e.g.* 1 AA 210-214. The district court simply informed Marks to discuss the matter with his lawyer. 1 AA 214. On June 24, 2009, again before trial, Marks submitted a written motion for substitution of counsel that, for some reason, was not filed by the court until July 5, 2019. 10 AA 22-27. Again, the court denied Marks' request. 10 AA 11, 15-16.

Marks' jury trial began on July 8, 2019. 2 AA 01. On July 26, 2019, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts. 9 AA 114-116.

On August 22, 2019, Marks filed another motion to remove counsel and requested to represent himself at sentencing. 10 AA 28-39. This time, the district court granted Marks' request. 10 AA 71.

On December 18, 2019, the district court imposed the following sentences.

Count 1: 364 days in the Clark County Detention Center (CCDC);

Count 2: 48 - 120 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections

(NDOC), concurrent with Count 1;

- Count 3: 24 72 months in NDOC, concurrent with Count 2;
- Count 4: 48 120 months in NDOC, plus *a consecutive* 24 60 months for both enhancements, *consecutive* to Count 3;
- Count 5: 48 120 months in NDOC, plus *a consecutive* 24 60 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, *consecutive* to Count 4;
- Count 6: 48 120 months in NDOC, plus *a consecutive* 24 60 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, *consecutive* to Count 5;
- Count 7: 36 120 months in NDOC, plus *a consecutive* 24 60 months for the victim 60 years of age or older enhancement, concurrent with count 6; and
- Count 8: 36 120 months in NDOC, concurrent with Count 7

Marks' aggregate total sentence, according to the district court, was 192 to 480 months. 9 AA 143-146. The district court gave Marks 179 days credit for time served. *Id*.

Marks also was ordered to pay \$250 in restitution to the Dugout Lounge,
Inc. dba Torrey Pines Pub, imposed jointly and severally with Johnson, Marks'
codefendant. 9 AA 143-150. The Judgment of Conviction and Restitution (Jury
Trial) was filed on December 23, 2019. 9 AA 154-156. An Amended Judgment of
Conviction and Restitution – *nunc pro tunc* (Jury Trial) was filed on March 16,
2019. 9 AA 159. A Second Amended Judgment of Conviction and Restitution

(Jury Trial) was filed on June 17, 2020 to show that the aggregate sentence was 240 to 612 months in NDOC. RA 04-06.

Marks filed a notice of appeal from the original judgment on January 17, 2020. 9 AA 157-158.

#### **Statement of the Facts**

## The Torrey Pines Pub Robbery

Shaylene Bernier was working as a bartender for Torrey Pines Pub during the late evening hours of October 28, 2018, and early morning hours of October 29, 2018; at that time, she worked the graveyard shift, which was from midnight until 8:00 a.m. 5 AA 13-14, 26. From Sunday to Thursday, the bartender would be the only employee present after 2:00 or 3:00 a.m. 5 AA 24.

The bar itself had three (3) main doors. There was one (1) for the kitchen, one (1) that let out to the side parking lot, and one (1) that was the main entrance.

5 AA 17. All three doors would be kept locked during the graveyard shift. *Id*.

After 11:30 p.m., a patron would walk up to the main entrance door and would have to be buzzed in to enter the bar, after showing identification. 5 AA 21, 111.

There were cameras located in this area, so the bartender could see who was trying to come in. 5 AA 23. When a customer would leave the bar, during Bernier's shift, they would typically leave out the front door. 5 AA 25. As to the side door, no one

could enter it from the outside during the graveyard shift; Robert Bonner, the owner of the bar, testified that the door would lock at either 10:00 p.m. or 11:00 p.m. 5 AA 23, 59, 111.

Bernier also testified that there were two (2) registers for sales and one (1) for gaming payouts. 5 AA 15. The money for payouts was kept in the middle of the bar, in a cooler. 5 AA 17. Security cameras were present inside the bar and would be recording during Bernier's shift. 5 AA 25. Bonner testified that he had sixteen (16) high definition surveillance cameras at the time of the crime. 5 AA 110.

According to Bernier, she had regular customers during the graveyard shift; she defined "regular" as someone would come in daily to gamble and drink. 5 AA 24. During her shift, it was not uncommon for regulars to leave through the side door even though they weren't supposed to, but they would because it was late and their cars were parked on that side. 5 AA 26.

On October 29, 2018, around 5:00 a.m., there were four (4) regulars inside the pub: Gerald Ferony, Kathy Petcoff, Myer Goldstein, and a newer regular named Antwaine Johnson. 5 AA 27, 57. Johnson had been coming to the pub for two (2) weeks, and Bernier knew his name because she checked his ID. 5 AA 28-29. Johnson would come in alone wearing a fluorescent safety vest. 5 AA 29. On

the day of the crime, Johnson came in after 2:00 a.m. and sat down to gamble. 5 AA 29-30.

Ferony arrived at approximately 4:00 a.m. 5 AA 56. He would go to the pub four (4) to six (6) times a week during the graveyard shift. 5 AA 54. He normally would drink and play video poker. *Id.* On the morning of the crime, Ferony ordered drinks, started to gamble, and conversed with others present in the bar. 5 AA 56. Johnson was sitting across him, "kitty-corner." 5 AA 57. Petcoff would gamble at the bar two (2) or three (3) times a week. 5 AA 100. Goldstein would visit the bar every day, and depending on his work shift, he would be there at either 10:40 p.m. or 12:40 a.m. until 5:00 or 6:00 a.m. 5 AA 80. Goldstein personally would not drink, but would visit to socialize with his friends. 5 AA 81. Typically, he would sit in a corner in the northeast section of the pub. 5 AA 83.

At approximately 5:15 a.m., Johnson got up to leave, so Bernier gave him a bottle of water, which was typical for her. 5 AA 30-31. Ferony watched as Johnson walked behind him and exited out the side door. 5 AA 58. Goldstein testified that he watched as Johnson got up to leave, but only heard him go out the side door. 5 AA 84. Berneir did not watch Johnson leave the pub, but the next thing she remembered was two (2) men coming in and yelling. 5 AA 32-33. Goldstein also testified that two (2) men rushed in. 5 AA 84. Both men had a gun.

5 AA 61. Goldstein testified that he also heard the men yelling that "this is a hold up" and "put your hands up." 5 AA 86.

One (1) man got behind the bar and started demanding money. 5 AA 33.

Both were wearing masks and hoodies, so no one could see their faces, but multiple witnesses testified that the two (2) individuals sounded like men.<sup>3</sup> 5 AA 33, 35, 59, 86, 103. The robber behind the bar demanded money — he had a gun in his hand, that he pointed at Bernier, and a garbage bag in his other hand to collect money. 5 AA 34. Goldstein witnessed as the robber demanded money while behind the bar. 5 AA 87. Bernier gave him the money from the slot drawer, the register, and the cooler; she was subsequently moved to the last register in order to retrieve money. 5 AA 35. A total of \$2,446 was taken. 5 AA 113.

Ferony testified that the other robber came up to him, pointed the gun in his face, and told him to put his hands up. 5 AA 60. Ferony was then hit on the head with the gun, on the back right near the top of the crown. 5 AA 62. Ferony started bleeding and fell out of his chair onto the floor. 4 5 AA 63. While he was on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bernier and Goldstein testified that the men sounded as though they were African American, and Goldstein added that he believed the men sounded as though they were twenty (20) or thirty (30) years old. 5 AA 50, 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Goldstein remembered seeing Ferony on the ground. 5 AA 88. Goldstein was taken to the hospital where he received treatment. 5 AA 68. Photos of Ferony in the hospital were also admitted. 5 AA 69. Ferony testified that he had the

floor, the robber demanded Ferony's wallet; Ferony pointed out that it was in his right hip pocket, and the robber took it. *Id*. The robber then went past Ferony towards the other two (2) customers. *Id*. Goldstein was then approached by a robber who demanded his wallet; the robber removed the wallet himself and proceeded to strike Goldstein with his gun. 5 AA 89-90. Petcoff did not remember much but did hear someone say this is a "hold up," recalled Ferony ended up on the floor, and that she was tapped on the back. 5 AA 102. Petcoff was unable to say much, as she testified she "blocked everything out." 5 AA 107.

Surveillance video from the night of the crime showed the patrons and bartender in the bar. 5 AA 39-40. The video also corroborated the bartender's and customers' rendition of events. 5 AA 40-44, 64-67, 91-96, 105-107.

After the robbers fled, and after 9-1-1 was dialed, officers arrived at the scene. 5 AA 37. Officer Weston Ferguson, from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD) was one (1) of the first officers to arrive. 5 AA 146. He initially attempted to locate the suspects, as they were reported leaving on foot, but was unable to find them. *Id.* Officer Jonathan Tomaino, from LVMPD, was also one (1) of the first officers to arrive on the scene. 5 AA 155. The scene was

staples in his head for about ten (10) days; not only was he in pain when he was hit, but he was in worse pain when the staples had to be removed. 5 AA 71.

taped off, and officers took time to speak with the victims. 5 AA 147. The victims were separated and spoken with; the officers learned that some of the victims had items taken from them. 5 AA 157. The officers determined that it was a "takeover style robbery," so robbery Detectives for LVMPD were contacted. 5 AA 159.

Officer Ferguson testified that there was something odd about Johnson, as he was the "victim" who opened the door for the robbers. 5 AA 150. He also gave inconsistent facts, was not battered, and did not have anything stolen from him. *Id*. Goldstein also noticed that Johnson was left untouched and unbothered by the two (2) robbers. 5 AA 90. Officer Tomaino testified that Johnson seemed to be extra cooperative and was pointed out as the one who opened the side door. 5 AA 160. During the course of his investigation, Officer Tomaino learned that the suspects hid behind Johnson's car before entering the pub. 5 AA 161.

Detective David Miller testified that he arrived at Torrey Pines Pub around 6:00 a.m. 7 AA 88. As Detective Miller explained, this type of robbery is referred to as a takeover-style-robbery. 7 AA 100. He contacted police officers, learned that the scene had been secured, and learned that the witnesses had been identified. 7 AA 89. Officers indicated to him that, during the preliminary investigation, there were reasons to be suspicious of Johnson's behavior. 7 AA 90. After reviewing the surveillance video, Detective Miller agreed with them. *Id.* In the video, it appeared

that Johnson was playing video poker, but Detective Miller later learned from Bonner that Johnson wasn't really playing video poker. 7 AA 94. Detective Miller further noted that the surveillance video showed that Johnson held the side door open longer than necessary to exit. 7 AA 95, 98.

Detective Joseph Winn impounded Johnson's cell phone, and Detective Miller obtained a pen register for the phone on November 6, 2018. 6 AA 89; 7 AA 104. Apparently, there were over one hundred (100) text messages missing from Johnson's cell phone compared to what he showed the detective; these were messages from around the time of the robbery. 7 AA 103-104, 108. These messages were sent from (424)375-1085 (the phone number Johnson claimed was his) to a phone number associated with Marks, *i.e.*, (323) 427-3092. 7 AA 105-106, 108, 110. In the month of October 2018, there were over one thousand (1,000) times of contact between these numbers. 7 AA 110.

According to Michael Bosillo, a custodian of records for T-Mobile, the target phone number for the T-Mobile records was (424) 375-1085. 7 AA 31-32. The subscriber for that phone number was Keyontrey S. McBride. 7 AA 105-106. Johnson told Detective Miller, however, that was the phone number he used. *Id*. The subscriber for the number (323) 427-3092 was listed as Marks, according to Ana Diaz, a Verizon Wireless custodian of records. 7 AA 54-55, 65-68.

Detective Miller was asked about subscribers' names on cell phone records, and he testified as follows:

- Q. So regardless of the name on here being Keyontrey, this was the phone number you understood to be Antwaine Johnson's phone; correct?
- A. Yes. Through our experience, it's not uncommon at all to have different names on numbers that we are looking into.

7 AA 106. In other words, it's not uncommon to have a phone number associated with a subscriber who does not use that number. *Id*.

Moreover, both Bosillo and Diaz (the custodians of records for T-Mobile and Verizon) testified that the phone records do not show the "content" of text messages, who sent or received the text messages, and they do not show the location from where the text messages were sent because they connect with a switch, not a cell tower. 7 AA 21-22, 50, 51, 58, 78, 83-84.

Lastly, Detective Eugenio Basilotta, with the Technical and Surveillance Squad (TASS) for LVMPD, testified at trial about his role with electronic surveillance, how pen registers work, and about phone records. 8 AA 5-6, 9-12. According to Detective Basilotta's interpretation of the phone records, on October 29, 2018, there were some "incoming" phone calls from (424) 375-1085 to (323) 427-3092. 8 AA 66-70. The incoming call "from" (424) 375-1085 shows that

number was "possibl[y]" in the area of Torrey Pines Pub. 8 AA 68-69 (When asked if that phone was "near" Torrey Pines Pub, Detective Basilotta testified "It's fair to say it's possible.").

#### Johnson's story

Johnson testified that he lived in the same apartment complex as Marks, and that he knew him. 5 AA 171-173. Johnson would see Marks walking his dog, at the gym, and hung out with "a couple of times." 5 AA 173. They exchanged phone numbers, according to Johnson, and his number had an area code "424" and ended in "1085," and Marks had a "323" area code number. 5 AA 175-176.

Prior to the robbery, Johnson lost his job and it was not easy for him to find another one. 5 AA 177. He also was responsible for his daughter. *Id.* Johnson confided in Marks that he lost his job. 5 AA 177-178. Marks allegedly said he knew of a way that they could get money by robbing a local bar. 5 AA 178. According to Johnson, Marks told him he personally scoped out the bar on a few occasions, and explained that there was money in a cooler. 5 AA 179. There was also another individual involved but Johnson did not know his name or his phone number. 5 AA 179-180.

According to Johnson, the plan was for him to get a headcount of who was in the bar, and to see if he could figure out where the money was. 5 AA 181.

Johnson was also supposed to act as though he was a customer by playing games, buying drinks, and wearing a vest to appear as though he worked in construction.

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