IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEVOHN MARKS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 21 2021 08:05 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 80469

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MARIO D. VALENCIA, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006154 40 S. Stephanie St., Ste. 201 Henderson, Nevada 89012 (702) 384-7494

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

In upholding the district court's decision to admit the evidence, this Court noted "Contrary to the assertions of Canada and Smith, the difficulty in identifying the perpetrators of the Sit 'N Bull robbery argues for, rather than against, the admission of evidence of the Charleston Heights robbery." <u>Id.</u>, 104 Nev. at 292, 756 P.2d at 554. Furthermore, the Court rejected the arguments that there was nothing unique about the two robberies and identified the following similarities: (1) both robberies took place in deserted bars very late at night; (2) in each robbery, one of the suspects entered alone and ordered a beer to allow him to case the bar; (3) in each robbery, at least one of the suspects wore a mask; (4) in each robbery the suspects were armed with shotguns; and (5) "the modus operandi common to the two (2) robberies was unique in comparison with other robberies in the manner in which the perpetrators savaged their victims." Id. at 293, 756 at 555.

A. Petrocelli Hearing Testimony.

On May 17, 2019, Miriam Byrd and Detective Swanbeck testified at the <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing. 1AA181–82, 191. On February 3, 2011, Byrd was working as a bartender at Fred's Tavern. 1AA184. Byrd remembered that she was initially joking with John, another bartender, about the \$7,777.00 in the register. 1AA185. At one point, a young African American man walked in and started looking around; when asked if he needed help, he responded with a no. 1AA186. After the male left, several African American males rushed in with weapons. 1AA187. The men were not

wearing anything to cover their faces. 1AA190. One male jumped over the bar and stole cash from the registers; while Byrd was on the ground, her cellphone was stolen. 1AA187.

Detective Swanbeck testified that he received a call about the robbery, that there was a "quasi-pursuit[,]" and the suspects had bailed out of the getaway vehicle. 1AA193–94. Upon further investigation, it was revealed that Appellant was part of the robbery. 1AA194. Appellant confessed to his role in the robbery: he was the driver and the person who initially cased out the bar; after supplying the intel about the bar, his co-conspirators went inside the tavern. 1AA196.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court agreed that the prior bad acts were relevant to the crime charged and the evidence presented had been proven relevant through clear and convincing evidence. 1AA200–02, 208, 227. However, the district court requested further briefing with regard to the prejudicial versus probative inquiry prong. 1AA200–02, 208.

On June 24, 2019, the district court found:

. . . there are many similarities and the Defendant in the case was in custody, and so it's – it happens very shortly after he is released from prison.

And so all of those things to me, in looking at the additional case law ... I think that there is sufficient information for the Court to, doing that balancing analysis, find that it is – you know I've already said it's relevant. I've already said that the prior conviction and testimony of that witness is clear and convincing, and so now it's – it's just is it more prejudicial than probative. I think given all these similarities and the fact that identification is an important part of this case because of the mask, that I'm going to allow it.

1AA228. The court ultimately granted the State's Motion, and made the following

findings:

[T]he prior case is similar to the instant case. In both cases, three people committed the robberies in bars. There is evidence in both cases that the locations were cased for days before the robberies occurred. In both cases, the robbers waited for the opportune time to rob, specifically when the bars had fewer occupants. In each case, one robber jumped over the counter to steal money from the register. Additionally, in both cases, employees and patrons of the bar were robbed of personal property.

Identification is an important part of the instant case because the accused robbers were wearing masks. In *Canada v. State*, the Supreme Court held that difficulty in identifying the perpetrators, coupled with a high degree of similarity between the crimes, makes evidence of other bad acts more probative than prejudicial. 104 Nev. 288, 293 (1988). Because identity is an issue, the crimes are similar, and there is evidence in this case other than the prior bad acts, the prior conviction is more probative than prejudicial. Therefore, the prior conviction will be allowed to show motive, intent, or identity.

RA015.

Appellant claims that the 2011 Fred's Tavern robbery for which he pled guilty and the 2018 Torrey Pines Pub robbery for which he was on trial were not similar enough to establish a clear signature crime as to establish identity. <u>AOB</u> at 27. Further, Appellant argues that Johnson's identification of Appellant at trial rendered the prior-bad-act evidence irrelevant. <u>AOB</u> at 27. Accordingly, Appellant's contention is that the prior bad act evidence was more prejudicial than probative. <u>AOB</u> at 32.

Here, Appellant not only committed a similar "takeover-style" robbery in this case and in C272989, but the evidence showed that Appellant changed the way the robbery in this case was conducted. According to Miriam Byrd, Appellant did not wear a mask when he initially walked into Fred's Tavern to scope out the area. 1AA186; 6AA56–57. Now in the instant case, Appellant learned from the error of his ways, after the previous robbery, by wearing a mask to avoid any visual identification. The Torrey Pines Pub robbery was another takeover-style robbery where one co-conspirator cased the bar. 5AA181, 187–89. Although Appellant wore a mask in this case, a non-propensity purpose of allowing for this evidence would be permissible under <u>Bigpond</u> to provide context to the current robbery and explain why Appellant chose to wear a mask.

Contrary to Appellant's claim, there were numerous similarities between the Fred's Tavern and Torrey Pines Pub robberies; specifically, in each case, Appellant and his co-conspirators committed a takeover-style robbery of a bar. 1AA186–87; 5AA32–35, 84–86. Moreover, the facts in <u>Canada</u> were very similar to the instant case. In this case, the following similarities were present: 1) each time, Appellant participated in the offenses with two or more persons; 1AA186–87; 5AA179–80; RA015; 2) each time, Appellant and his co-conspirators targeted bars as opposed to

homes or victims on the street; 1AA186; 5AA178–81; 3) each time, they extensively planned the robbery and sent one person in to case the location for information for days, and the information was conveyed to people waiting outside; 1AA101, 196; 5AA178–81, 187–94; RA015; 4) each time, they waited until an opportune time and then robbed the victims inside the bar; 1AA101, 196; 5AA193–94; RA015; 5) in each case, one of the robbers jumped over the counter and stole money from the bar itself; 1AA187; 5AA33; RA015; and 6) in each case, the employees/patrons of the bar were also robbed of their personal property; 1AA187; 5AA63, 89–90; RA015. The similarities between these offenses were significant and were highly probative to show the identity of Appellant as one of the masked and gloved robbers. Further, as stated *supra*, the inability of the victims in this case to identify Appellant (because he wore a mask) points to allowing evidence of his prior bad act robbery to show Appellant's identity in this case.

Finally, Appellant's prior robbery demonstrated that he possessed the knowledge to plan in advance and commit a takeover-style robbery of a local bar. 1AA101, 196; 5AA178–81, 187–94; RA015. Moreover, Appellant knew to send someone in to case the bar, had the patience to wait until an opportune time to rob the bar, and was familiar with the security measures in place at local bars. 1AA101, 196; 5AA23, 59, 111, 178–81, 187, 193–94; RA015. For these reasons, the district

court did not err in introducing evidence from the prior robbery, in C272989, as a prior bad act to show motive, intent, or identity.

Appellant alleges that the district court further erred by failing to instruct the jury immediately prior to the admission of prior-bad-act evidence. <u>AOB</u> at 33. However, the jury was properly instructed that evidence of Appellant's prior robbery was not to be used for the purpose of concluding he committed the instant robbery. Following Miriam Byrd's testimony about the Fred's Tavern robbery, the Court informed the jury:

The testimony of this witness is not offered to prove that the defendant committed a robbery. It's, you know, it's not offered to prove that he acted in conformity. It's offered for other proof such as identification. So you'll be further instructed on that in your written instructions.

6AA063. Directly after being so admonished, the jury took a fifteen-minute-recess and then heard from Officer Charles Jivapong and Detective Jeffrey Swanbeck about the 2011 robbery. 6AA063–82.

The jury was also instructed with respect to the evidence of Appellant's prior

robbery in the jury instructions. Jury instruction No. 21 reads as follows:

Evidence that the Defendant committed offenses other than that for which he is on trial, if believed, was not received and may not be considered by you to prove that he is a person of bad character or to prove that he has a disposition to commit crimes. Such evidence was received and may be considered by you only for the limited purpose of proving the Defendant's motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. You must weigh this evidence in the same manner as you do all other evidence in the case. Evidence that the Defendant was previously convicted of felony crimes may be considered by you for the purpose of weighing his credibility.

8AA185.

While Appellant emphasizes the instruction should be given "immediately prior to its admission," in addition to a general instruction at the end of trial, <u>Tavares</u> held that "a limiting instruction should be given *both at the time the evidence of the uncharged bad acts is admitted* and in the trial court's final charge to the jury. <u>Rhymes v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 17, 23, 107 P.3d 1278, 1282 (2005) (<u>citing Tavares</u>, 117 Nev. at 733, 30 P.3d at 1133). Here, the district court complied with <u>Tavares</u> because the jury was instructed directly following Ms. Byrd's testimony, which was at the time the evidence was admitted. Further, the instruction was immediately prior to the other prior-bad-act witnesses.

The jury was therefore sufficiently instructed that any evidence of Appellant's guilt with respect to the 2011 Fred's Tavern robbery was not to be considered by them to assume Appellant was guilty of the robbery for which he was on trial.

B. Harmless Error.

Assuming *arguendo* that the district court erred, any error was harmless based upon the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Under NRS 178.598, any "error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness, based on whether the error had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. <u>Knipes v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under <u>Chapman</u> for constitutional trial error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." <u>Tavares v.</u> State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n.14 (2001).

Here, multiple victims testified about the acts leading up to the robbery that occurred on October 29, 2018. Prior to the robbery, for a couple of weeks, Johnson would visit the Torrey Pines Pub in order to gauge the number of persons in the bar during the graveyard shift. 5AA28–29, 84, 181–86. His role was to case the bar prior to the robbery and on the actual day of the robbery. 5AA181–86. On October 29, 2018, when the time was right, Johnson exited the bar through the side exit. 5AA58, 84, 193–94. Victims testified that this door was locked from the outside during the graveyard shift. 5AA23, 59, 111. As Johnson slowly opened the door, Appellant and their co-conspirator rushed in. 5AA32–33, 84, 193–94. Previously, Appellant and the unknown co-conspirator were wearing masks and gloves, and both were armed with firearms. 5AA33, 35, 59, 61, 86, 103.

One of the co-conspirators jumped over the bar in order to demand money. 5AA33–34. Victims testified about having guns pointed at them, and an elderly patron was violently pistol whipped. 5AA34, 60, 62. Appellant later admitted to Johnson that he was the co-conspirator who struck this victim. 5AA208. During the course of the robbery, Johnson acted as though he was a victim, and even stuck around until police arrived. <u>See</u> 5AA160. However, detectives learned that Johnson was part of the scheme due to his phone records that showed numerous communications with Appellant in the hours and month leading up to the robbery. 7AA103–04, 108–10. Furthermore, surveillance video corroborated the victims' and Johnson's testimony about what occurred on October 29, 2018. 5AA40–44, 64–67, 91–96, 105–107.

Most damaging to Appellant's case was the fact that Johnson testified about his personal involvement, how he knew Appellant prior to the robbery, and that Appellant came up with the plan to rob the bar. 5AA171–97. Furthermore, cell phone evidence was admitted showing that Appellant was near the bar during the time of the robbery. 7AA66–70. Due to the testimony of the victims, Johnson's confession, and phone records, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. For these reasons, if this Court were to find that the district court erred, any error was harmless.

IV. APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL WAS NOT VIOLATED WHEN THE DISTRICT COURT DENIED APPELLANT'S PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS

Appellant alleges that the district court abused its discretion by denying his requests for substitution of counsel. AOB at 38. Determining whether friction between a defendant and his attorney justifies substituting counsel is within the trial court's sound discretion, and this Court will not disturb its decision on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. Thomas v. State, 94 Nev. 605, 607, 584 P.2d 674, 676 (1978). Generally, a district court should not summarily reject a motion for new counsel where such motion is made considerably before trial without first conducting an "adequate inquiry" into the defendant's complaints. Garcia v. State, 121 Nev. 327, 337, 113 P.3d 836, 842 (2005) (quoting Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 968, 102 P.3d 572, 576 (2004)). However, absent good cause shown, a defendant is not entitled to the substitution of court-appointed counsel at public expense. Garcia, 121 Nev. at 337, 113 P.3d at 842; Young, 120 Nev. at 968, 102 P.3d at 576.

This Court has defined good cause as "a conflict of interest, a complete breakdown of communication, or an irreconcilable conflict which [could] lead . . . to an apparently unjust verdict." <u>Gallego v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 348, 363, 23 P.3d 227, 237 (2001), <u>overruled on other grounds by Nunnery v. State</u>, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235 (2011). Good cause is not "determined solely according to the subjective standard of what the defendant perceives," nor is "[t]he mere loss of confidence in appointed counsel . . . good cause." <u>Id.</u> While a defendant's lack of trust in counsel is a factor

in the determination, a defendant must nonetheless provide the court with legitimate explanations for it. <u>Id. (citing McKee v. Harris</u>, 649 F.2d 927, 932 (2nd Cir. 1981)).

Moreover, a defendant may not request substitute counsel based on his refusal to cooperate with present counsel because "'[s]uch a doctrine would lead to absurd results." <u>Thomas</u>, 94 Nev. at 608, P.2d 674 at 676 (<u>quoting Shaw v. United States</u>, 403 F.2d 528, 529 (8th Cir. 1968)). Because counsel alone is responsible for tactical decisions regarding a defense, a mere disagreement between counsel and a defendant regarding tactics cannot give rise to an irreconcilable conflict. <u>See Rhyne v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). In particular, where a defendant disagrees with counsel's reasonable defense strategy and wishes instead to present his own ill-conceived strategy, no conflict arises. <u>See Gallego</u>, 117 Nev. at 363, 23 P.3d at 237. Rather, attorney-client conflict warrants substitution "only when counsel and defendant are so at odds as to prevent presentation of an adequate defense." <u>Id.</u>

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